No. S217896 (Court of Appeal No. F065450, consolidated with F065451 and F065689 (Kern County Superior Court Nos. CV-276959 and CV-276961)



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP 2 5 2014

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Plaintiff/Respondent

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

v.
KIRNPAL GREWAL, et al.,
Defendant and Appellant

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF APPELLANTS GREWAL AND WALKER

WESTON, GARROU & MOONEY

John H. Weston (SBN 46146) johnhweston@wgdlaw.com G. Randall Garrou (SBN 74442) randygarrou@wgdlaw.com Jerome H. Mooney (SBN 199542) jerrym@mooneylaw.com

12121 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 525 Los Angeles, CA 90025

Telephone: (310) 442-0072

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. By rejecting the authoritative construction of Penal Code § 330b's definition of "slot machine" rendered by the 3rd District Court of Appeal over a decade ago in *Trinkle v. California State Lottery*, did the 5th District Court of Appeal in *Grewal* (hereafter "the Court of Appeal") violate the doctrine of implied legislative adoption, given that the Legislature has amended the statute three times since *Trinkle*, all without making any substantive changes in the relevant provisions as construed by *Trinkle*?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeal violate principles of either stare decisis and/or due process by affirming the ruling of the superior court below, since the superior court, under Auto Equity, was required to follow and apply the then-definitive court of appeal decision in Trinkle II? At most, should not the Court of Appeal, instead, have held that the superior court erred, and that the Court of Appeal's construction will apply prospectively only?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeal prejudicially err in the *reasons* it gave for rejecting Appellants' rule of lenity argument?
- 4. By re-interpreting the definition of "slot machine" to no longer require "chance operation," thus making a "slot machine" of *any* device providing a game with potential prizes where the outcome is unpredictable to the user, did the Court of Appeal violate the principle that statutes should not be construed to produce results obviously unintended by the Legislature, given that the Court of Appeal's new definition unquestionably makes criminal the placement and operation of the State Lottery's Scratchers Vending Machines?

5. By also re-interpreting the definition of a "slot machine" to no longer require insertion of any physical object, thereby criminalizing the possession of any computer, smart phone, tablet or Smart television capable of being used to participate in sweepstakes and other contests with prizes via the Internet, did the Court of Appeal likewise violate the principle that statutes should not be construed to produce results obviously unintended by the Legislature?

INTRODUCTION

This case presents the important question of whether a court of appeal is free to construe a criminal statute as though a matter of first impression where that court of appeal's construction irreconcilably conflicts with a prior construction of the same statute in a published court of appeal decision rendered more than a decade earlier, and notwithstanding three amendments to the statute during that period, none of which took issue with the earlier court of appeal's ruling. As Appellants will demonstrate, the Court of Appeal below clearly erred by construing the meaning of the statute as though it were free to do so as a matter of first impression.

This case also asks the Court to address and clarify the scope of the stare decisis and due process protections for businesses which assume the validity of published decisions of the courts of appeal. The Court of Appeal's ruling obliterates due process protections for those who conduct business activities based on presumably settled principles of stare decisis.

This case also presents the important question of whether the construction which the Court of Appeal placed on Penal Code § 330b(d)

(defining a prohibited "slot machine"), even if abstractly not an unreasonable interpretation of the statute's facial language, violated the principle against construing a statute in a manner obviously not intended by the Legislature. The construction rendered by the Court of Appeal below would not only make criminals of every person possessing a computer, smart phone, or television with Internet access, but would make the California State Lottery's Scratchers Vending Machines ("SVMs") illegal slot machines and make criminals of all who possess or provide space for SVMs. Given these obviously unintended and far-reaching consequences, the Court of Appeal below was not free to adopt such a construction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The materially significant facts are accurately set forth in the opinion of the Court of Appeal below (*People v. Grewal*, 224 Cal.App.4th 527, 534-536, 168 Cal.Rptr.3d 749, 754-756 (5th Dt. 2014) (hereafter "*Grewal*"). Appellants Grewal and Walker owned similar businesses which sold "computer and Internet access" as well as other services. They

¹ Hereafter, all page references will be to *Grewal's* pagination in West's California Reporter since the official reports version was removed online when it was automatically vacated by this Court's grant of review.

² The past tense is used here because the businesses were closed by the preliminary injunction here appealed. Importantly, the injunction also prohibits Appellants from opening any similar business in the future. Additionally, the statutory construction rendered by the Court of Appeal has the potential to significantly affect them on remand where they face claims for crippling monetary penalties under the state's unfair competition statutes, BPC § 17200, et seq. In short, they retain a very significant stake in the outcome of the Court's ruling herein notwithstanding the closure of their businesses.

"promote[d] the sale of Internet time and other products with a sweepstakes giveaway that [was] implemented through a software system." *Id.* at 754.

At each location, Internet time could be purchased for \$10 per hour. Id. "When Internet time [was] purchased, a personal identification number [was] assigned to that customer . . . by which the customer may access the computers and Internet as well as play sweepstakes computer games." Id. "At the time of purchase, the customer receive[d] 100 'sweepstakes points' for each dollar spent." Id. There were also a number of options for customers to obtain sweepstakes points without making any purchase whatsoever. Id. Sweepstakes points could be "used to draw the next available sequential entry from a sweepstake contest pool." Id. Importantly, there was no random operation of any of Appellants' computers. Sweepstakes results were always the result of merely turning over the next available sequential entry in whichever sweepstakes pool the customer entered.

A sweepstakes entry could be drawn, and the result revealed, by any of three different methods: "(i) asking [a store] employee to reveal a result, (ii) pushing an instant reveal button at the computer station, or (iii) playing [simulated] computer sweepstakes games 'that have appearances similar to common games of chance' at the computer terminals." *Id.* at 755. "[N]o purchase [was] necessary to enter the sweepstakes." *Id.* Customers were also informed that playing of the simulated sweepstakes games would "have no effect on the outcome of the prizes won,' but are merely an 'entertaining way to reveal [the customer's] prizes and [he] could have them instantly revealed and would have the same result." *Id.*

In short, and as found by the Court of Appeal, "[t]here is no random component" to the operation of Appellants' computers. *Id*.³

Additionally, no physical object was inserted into Appellants' computers by any customer, nor did Appellants' computers have any magnetic cards readers.⁴ Activation was solely accomplished by a customer inputting a personal identification number (PIN) at the computer keyboard.⁵ The People's complaint alleged that Appellants had violated each of the state's three slot machine statutes (i.e., Penal Code §§ 330a, 330b and 330.1) as well as the statutory lottery prohibition (Penal Code § 319) and sought interim and permanent injunctive relief, and monetary penalties under BPC §17200 et seq.

³ Technically, the court found that there was no random component to the *simulated sweepstakes games*. *Id.* However, there was *no* evidence or finding of *any* random operation of any component or feature of Appellants' computers, and in fact there was none. All sweepstakes results were pre-loaded in a fixed sequence, so it was predetermined that, e.g., the 11th person selecting from a particular pool would necessarily get a predetermined result. *See* ¶ 6 of Grewal Declaration filed July 13, 2012 (CT 62) and ¶ 6 of Walker Declaration filed July 13, 2012 (CT 66).

⁴ As found by the Court of Appeal's opinion (hereafter "*Grewal*"), computer access at the Grewal and Walker stores was accomplished via a unique PIN assigned to each customer, which they would type in to obtain computer access. *Id.* at 754 (Grewal) and 756 (Walker). Unlike the computer terminals at any of the other stores in these appeals, the Grewal and Walker stores did not have magnetic card readers or anything else into which any object was inserted to activate them. *See* ¶ 9 of Declaration of Kirnpal Grewal filed on June 27, 2012 (stating that "the customer receives no card" and that "no card is ever swiped on, or inserted into, a machine" and ¶¶ 5 and 8 noting that "logging on" precedes participation). To the same effect *see* ¶¶ 5, 8 and 9 of the Declaration of Kimball Walker filed on that same date.

⁵ Ibid.

At a hearing on Temporary Restraining Order, Appellants argued that their businesses were not lotteries because of the numerous methods provided for free participation,⁶ and were not slot machines under any of the charged statutes because their businesses were entirely lawful under the slot machine statutes as authoritatively construed by the court of appeal in *Trinkle v. California State Lottery*, 105 Cal.App.4th 1401 (3rd Dist. 2003) ("*Trinkle II*"). Specifically, in construing the definition of "slot machine" in both Penal Code § 330b and § 330.1, *Trinkle II* stated:

"[T]he elements of a slot machine are (1) the *insertion* of money or other *object* which causes the machine to operate, (2) the *operation* of the machine is unpredictable and governed by *chance*, and (3) by reason of the *chance operation* of the machine, the user may become entitled to receive a thing of value." *Id.* at 1410. (Emphases added.)

Appellants argued that their computers met *none* of these three elements because no physical object of any type was ever *inserted* into the machines to operate them, and there was no *chance operation* of their machines. Appellants explained that: (1) as a necessary part of its holding in finding that the California State Lottery's SVMs were not slot machines, *Trinkle II* held that the "chance operation" element is not to be measured from the perspective of the user; (2) had it been otherwise, the "chance operation" element would certainly have been met because users of an SVM never know, in advance, whether they are purchasing a winning or losing ticket; (3) from the customers' perspective, the SVMs always produce a chance result; and (4) *Trinkle II* had rejected an asserted

⁶ Appellants relied on this Court's decision in *California Gasoline Retailers v. Regal Petroleum*, 50 Cal.2d 844 (1958), holding that a free entry option distinguishes legal from illegal lotteries.

construction of these statutes which based the determination of chance on the *user's* perception, and held, instead, that in order for a device to be a slot machine, "the machine itself [must] determine the element of chance," *id.* at 1410, i.e., that the statutes are only violated if "the operation of the machine is . . . governed by chance." *Id.*

Appellants additionally maintained, relying on *Trinkle II's* slot machine definition, that their computers were not slot machines because no physical object was ever inserted in order to activate them.

The Superior Court denied the Temporary Restraining Order but ultimately reversed itself, issuing a preliminary injunction forcing the closure of Appellants' businesses and prohibiting them from reopening anywhere in California.

On appeal, Appellants argued the issues described above and additionally that slot machines were necessarily house banked games but that their sweepstakes program was not.

The Court of Appeal addressed only the issue of whether Appellants' computers were "slot machines," finding it unnecessary to consider whether they were used to operate a lottery. *Id.* at 765.⁷

⁷ The state Legislature, as well, appears to presume that the lottery statute is inapplicable. The summary of "Existing Law" contained in the Staff Analysis prepared for the Senate Committee on Governmental Organization, June 16, 2014, in connection with its consideration of AB 1439, states (in a paragraph entitled "Are these Internet sweepstakes operating illegal lotteries?"):

[&]quot;As long as there is a legitimate free method of entry into the sweepstakes or promotion, the consideration element is absent, and the "sweepstakes" is not an illegal lottery. Thus, it would appear that most Internet cafes are not operating illegal lotteries under California law."

Concluding that the broadest "slot machine" definition was found in Penal Code § 330b, the Court of Appeal chose to analyze the claims solely under the elements of that statute, ignoring the charges under Penal Code §§ 330a and 330.1. *Id.* at 759.

With respect to Appellants' argument that their computers were not slot machines because activation was not accomplished by insertion of any physical object, the *Grewal* opinion, as a legal conclusion, disagreed with *Trinkle II's* requirement of insertion of a *physical object*, stating that "the insertion of a PIN . . . at the computer terminal in order to activate or access the sweepstakes games and thereby use points received upon paying money at the register . . . plainly came within the broad scope of the statute." *Id.* at 760-761.

With respect to Appellants' argument that their computers did not meet the "chance operation" requirement, which was the *raison d'etre* for the *Trinkle II* holding (and the only reason the State's SVMs escaped being found to be slot machines), the *Grewal* opinion again rejected *Trinkle II's* legal test, concluding that it is not necessary that the machines *operate* in a chance manner, but only that the *user* cannot predict whether he or she will win anything. *Id.* at 760-762.

Grewal's rejections of the holdings of *Trinkle II* were explicit and emphatic:

"Trinkle II held that the chance element must be created by a randomizing process occurring at the moment the machine or device is being played. (Trinkle II, supra, at p. 1411, 129 Cal.Rptr.2d 904.) As will be explained below, we think that holding was in error. . . . [W]e adopt a different approach here than what was articulated in that case." 168 Cal.Rptr.3d at 760 (emphasis added).

Grewal held that, rather than requiring proof of random operation of

the machine itself (as was critical to the ruling in Trinkle II):

"this element of the statute (commonly referred to as the chance element) can be satisfied [merely] by showing that a prize may be won by reason of an "outcome of operation unpredictable" to the *user*." *Id.* (Emphasis added.)

Next, although *Trinkle II* explained (albeit in dictum) that a required element of the statute is insertion of some type of physical "object," *Grewal* rejected that as well, concluding that use of a PIN is sufficient to satisfy the insertion requirement (thus expanding the scope of the statute to reach computers, smart phones and smart televisions, something obviously never contemplated by the Legislature in 1950). *Id.* at 760-761.

Finally, after thoroughly rejecting all of *Trinkle II's* legal rulings, *Grewal* alternatively related several "factual" differences between SVMs and Appellants' computers which the court thought distinguished Appellants' case from *Trinkle II*. However, with all due respect, the Court of Appeal's point is unclear to Appellants. As best Appellants can discern, *Grewal* believed either that: (1) *Trinkle II's* test exempts only "passive" vending machines like SVMs from § 330b, but not machines offering more customer interactivity (described as those which "actualize" "the trappings and experiences involved in playing traditional slot machines", *id.*), even if they have no randomly operating components; (2) *Trinkle II's* test would not exempt machines which are connected to any *other* machines; or (3) *Trinkle II's* test would not exempt a vending machine if connected to a

⁸ See 105 Cal.App.4th at 1410: "[T]he elements of a slot machine are (1) the insertion of money or other *object* which causes the machine to operate." (Emphasis added.)

⁹ Appellants will refer to this as the "look and feel" test.

randomly-operating machine (though there was no evidence of such a connection in this case).

In any event, based both upon its express holding emphatically rejecting Trinkle II's construction of all of the required elements of a "slot machine" offense, and its alternative attempt to distinguish Trinkle II, Grewal affirmed the issuance of the preliminary injunction (168 Cal.Rptr.3d at 765) and, more importantly, plunged Penal Code § 330b(d) into legal chaos.¹⁰

¹⁰ Subsequent to the decision below and this Court's grant of review, the State Legislature adopted a "sweepstakes" bill (AB 1439) designed specifically to make illegal the types of businesses at issue herein. Assuming it becomes law, it would not moot this appeal, because the issue of whether Appellants operated "slot machines," in violation of Penal Code § 330b, still has enormous potential consequences for them, given the underlying complaint below for virtually unlimited monetary penalties under the unfair competition laws based on their past conduct. It also has huge ramifications for several other similar suits pending throughout the state, as well as SVMs and countless companies' online sweepstakes and other contests.

ARGUMENT

I

TRINKLE II

Because this appeal turns, in large part, on the construction of the definition of "slot machine" in Penal Code § 330b(d)a rendered by the court of appeal in *Trinkle v. California State Lottery (Trinkle II)*, *supra*, a thorough understanding of its facts and holding is essential.

Trinkle II ¹¹ involved a declaratory judgment action challenging the legality of the California State Lottery's (CSL's) Scratchers Vending Machines (SVMs) brought by a private party who, in an earlier published opinion (*Trinkle v. Stroh, supra*) had been found to be operating a business using illegal slot machines. ¹²

In *Trinkle II*, the plaintiff asserted that the State's SVMs were illegal slot machines under both Penal Code §§ 330b and 330.1 because they were devices into which money was inserted in hopes of winning a prize which, from the user's perspective, was entirely a matter of chance.

The court of appeal noted that although the Legislature had exempted SVMs from Penal Code § 319's ban on "lotteries", it had not similarly exempted them from the category of illegal slot machines. 13

¹¹ So named to distinguish it from an earlier court of appeal decision involving Mr. Trinkle, *Trinkle v. Stroh*, 60 Cal.App.4th 771 (3d Dt. 1997).

¹² The earlier decision involved an ABC seizure of Mr. Trinkle's devices as illegal "slot machines" and his unsuccessful action, filed under Penal Code § 335a, for the return of these devices as lawful items.

^{13 &}quot;The constitutional and statutory grant of authority to CSL is limited to lotteries. The CSL may not conduct games other than lotteries." 105 Cal.App.4th at 1406.

Consequently, the court had to determine whether SVMs were slot machines as defined in those two Penal Code sections.

First, it examined the statutory language of § 330b:

"The use or possession of a slot machine is prohibited by Penal Code section 330b which defines a slot machine in pertinent part as any device 'that is adopted . . . for use in such a way that, as a result of the insertion of any piece of money or coin or other object . . . such machine or device is caused to operate or may be operated, and by reason of any element of hazard or chance or of other outcome of such operation unpredictable by him, the user may receive or become entitled to receive any . . . thing of value" 105 Cal.App.4th at 1409 (emphasis in original).

Then it observed the principle of statutory construction that "courts should give meaning to every word of a statute and avoid a construction making any word surplusage." *Id.* at 1410. It concluded that "such operation unpredictable by him" referred to random or chance operation of the machine, and therefore that a machine must operate in a random manner to be an illegal slot machine.

After noting that a similar "slot machine" definition was provided by Penal Code § 330.1, the court construed the elements of a slot machine for *both* statutes¹⁴ as follows:

"Thus, the elements of a slot machine are (1) the insertion of money or other object which causes the machine to operate, (2) the operation of the machine is unpredictable and governed by chance, and (3) by reason of the chance operation

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