IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

DEC 29 20 8.25(b

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

KIRNPAL GREWAL,

Defendant/Appellant.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

V.

PHILLIP WALKER,

Defendant/Appellant.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

JOHN C. STIDMAN,

Defendant/Appellant.

CASE NO. S217896

Appellate Case No: F065450, Frank A. McGuire Clerk consolidated with F065451, F065689

Deputy

Kern County Sup Ct No. CV-276959

Appellate Case No: F065451, consolidated with F065450, F065689

Kern County Sup Ct No. CV-276961

Appellate Case No: F065689, consolidated with F065450, F065451

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

ARGUMENT

I. BACKGROUND OF THE SWEEPSTAKES CAFÉ GAMBLING PHENOMENON

Appellants' gambling schemes are not isolated ventures. Indeed, as described herein, courts throughout the United States have been dealing with illegal sweepstakes schemes essentially identical to those of Appellants. In the fall 2012 edition of the University of Nevada Las Vegas Gaming Law Journal, the authors did an in-depth review of the sweepstakes café phenomenon, generally describing it as follows:

In recent years, a new phenomenon of "convenience gambling" has spread across the country. Utilizing the speed and sophistication of networked computer technology, proprietors are offering the appeal of slot machine gambling in strip mall store fronts under the legal cover of laws drafted for sweepstakes designed in the 1970s and 1980s for Publisher's Clearing House and the McDonald's Monopoly game. However, unlike the games intended to drive sales of commercial products, these new gambling enterprises appear more focused on the typical casino goal of attracting gambling revenue rather than increased profits from the underlying non-gambling business. These new forms of gambling operate under the innocuous moniker of "Internet cafe," and are pushing the boundaries of gambling laws and regulations. Quite often, the communities in which they operate are ill-equipped to deal with their oversight.

The term "Internet café" requires further explanation, as it is a bit of a misnomer. On most occasions, patrons of an Internet cafe are not interested in accessing the Internet, nor are they enjoying the relaxing coffee-infused environment generally imagined when one fashions a mental picture of a "cafe." Rather, the type of Internet cafe at issue in this Article, also known as an "adult amusement arcade" or "convenience casino," is a place where people go to play electronic sweepstakes games that look and sound almost identical to slot machines found in regulated casinos around the world. The name "Internet café" is derived from the commercial product purportedly sold by these operations, i.e. internet time, and the intent of the proprietor to demonstrate facial compliance with state gambling laws. Many states in which these facilities operate have laws allowing a commercial business to conduct promotional sweepstakes in conjunction with the sale of a "good or service" to its customers. The sweepstakes serve as a marketing aid to drive sales of the underlying commercial product. These sweepstakes promotions range from the well-known "look under the cap" games of soft drink manufacturers to code numbers on restaurant and store receipts, which when entered following an online consumer satisfaction survey enroll the customer into a prize drawing.

* * * *

The argument of Internet cafe operators is that their operations are no different from McDonald's, Coca-Cola, or Home Depot. Counsel for a coalition of Internet cafes was quoted in Florida as saying:

The sweepstakes is simply a marketing tool used to promote the Internet and telephone time purchased at these cafes. . . .

Despite this purported legal justification in support of their legitimacy, many customers, and even media outlets, are entirely unaware that this "marketing tool" is not the actual underlying business, and that Internet cafes are not essentially casinos. The fact that the games played so closely resemble slot machines and are located inside facilities that have names such as "Luxxor Casino" or "Lucky 777 Café" further blurs the line as to what the underlying business actually entails. (Dunbar and Russell, *The History of Internet Cafes and the Current Approach to Their Regulation* (Fall 2012) 3 UNLV Gaming L.J. 243 pp. *243-*245.)

While some states may be having difficulty dealing with these sophisticated gambling schemes, California law unqualifiedly prohibits such schemes, no matter how well disguised.

II. THE SWEEPSTAKES GAMING SYSTEMS VIOLATE PENAL CODE SECTION 330b

A. Well-Accepted Rules Of Construction Should Be Applied To The Language Of Penal Code Section 330b

"The interpretation and construction of a statute, such as a [gambling statute], and its applicability to a given situation, are questions of law for the reviewing court. [Citations.]" (*Bell Gardens Bicycle Club v. Dep't of Justice* (1995) 36 Cal.App.4th 717, 746.)

California's broad Penal Code provisions on gambling devices forbid a wide range of electronic and mechanical machines beyond traditional casino-style slots. (Pen. Code §§ 330a, 330b, 330.1.)⁵

⁵ Penal Code sections 330b and 330.1 have similar definitions of a "slot machine or device." (*Trinkle v. Stroh* (1997) 60 Cal.App.4th 771, 778-780 & fn. 4.) Penal Code section 330a also has a similar definition of "slot or card machine, contrivance, appliance or mechanical device." (*Hotel Employees & Restaurant Employees Internat. Union v. Davis* (1999) 21

Appellants invite this court to wholly undercut these long-standing prohibitory statutes by adopting a tortured and narrow construction of them. But contrary to Appellants' proposed statutory reconstruction, it is well-accepted that the starting place for statutory construction is a plain reading of the statutes based upon the "ordinary import of the language employed." (Fontana Unified School District v. Burman (1988) 45 Cal.3d 208.)

With respect to Penal Code section 330b, subdivision (d),⁶
Appellants would have this Court delete, ignore, or change the statute's language. They advocate ignoring the phrase "or by any other means" with respect to the so-called "insertion" element necessary to establish a violation of subdivision (d). Appellants also suggest deleting or ignoring language that a violation of section 330b, subdivision (d), will be found

Cal.4th 585, 593-594.) For purposes of this brief, Penal Code section 330b is discussed in the most detail, but the analysis is applicable to all three statutes.

is adapted, or may readily be converted, for use in a way that, as a result of the insertion of any piece of money or coin or other object, or by any other means, the machine or device is caused to operate or may be operated, and by reason of any element of hazard or chance or other outcome of operation unpredictable by him or her, the user may receive or become entitled to receive any piece of money, credit, allowance, or thing of value, or additional chance or right to use the slot machine or device, or any check, slug, token, or memorandum, whether of value or otherwise, which may be exchanged for any money, credit, allowance, or thing of value, or which may be given in trade, irrespective of whether it may, apart from any element of hazard or chance or unpredictable outcome of operation, also sell, deliver or present some merchandise, indication of weight, entertainment or thing of value.

⁶ In its entirety, Penal Code section 330b, subdivision (d), defines a "slot machine or device" as unlawful if it:

"irrespective of whether [the gambling device] may, apart from any element of hazard or chance or unpredictable outcome of operation, also sell, deliver, or present some merchandise, indication of weight, entertainment, or other thing of value." Perhaps most importantly, Appellants implore the Court to re-write the statute by changing the word "or" to "and," in the phrase "by reason of any element of hazard or chance *or* of other outcome of operation unpredictable by him or her" ⁷

In contrast to Appellants' proposed revisions to Penal Code section 330b, subdivision (d), the People ask this Court to apply the statute's language as written, "according to the usual, ordinary import of the language employed in framing [it]'... '[giving significance] to every word, phrase, sentence and part of [subdivision (d)] in pursuance of the legislative purpose." (Fontana Unified School District v. Burman, supra, 45 Cal.3d at p. 218)

B. The Sweepstakes Gaming Systems Contain All The Elements Of Gambling Devices Under Penal Code Section 330b

At its essence, Penal Code section 330b finds a device to be a gambling device (or slot machine) if "by the insertion of money and purely by chance (without any skill whatsoever), the user may receive or become entitled to receive money." (*People ex rel. Bill Lockyer v. Pacific Gaming Technologies* (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 699, 703 (*Pacific Gaming Technologies*).) California courts have found this statute's broad scope to

⁷ Appellant Stidman repeatedly refers to the Court of Appeal's adherence to the statutory language as injecting a "subjective component" into the statute. (Stidman AOB, p. 22.) First, "unpredictable by [the user of the device]" was not the Court's language, it is the language of the statute. (Penal Code, § 330b, subd. (d).) Second, unpredictability of outcome can be objectively established by the evidence, as it was here.

prohibit a wide variety of devices under California law as gambling devices. (*Id.* at 703 [holding that a device that dispensed a five-minute phone card for \$1.00 was a gambling device because operators also received the random chance to win a sweepstakes prize]; *Trinkle v. Stroh* (1997) 60 Cal.App.4th 771, 775-77 (*Trinkle I*) [holding a jukebox that dispensed four songs for \$1.00 was a gambling device because operators also received the random chance to win a cash jackpot]; *Score Family Fun Center, Inc. v. County of San Diego* (1990) 225 Cal.App.3d 1217, 1221-1223 (*Score Family Fun Center*) [holding that a video game that simulated card games was a gambling device because operators could as a matter of chance win free games]; *Merandette v. City and County of San Francisco* (1979) 88 Cal.App.3d 105, 113-14 (*Merandette*) [finding that video devices that offered free games by chance can also be prohibited by this statute].)

Based on the above authority, Appellants' Sweepstakes Gaming Systems, as operated and observed on their private computer networks, constituted illegal gambling devices under Penal Code section 330b.⁸ For the payment of money, patrons could have, based upon "chance" or "other outcome of operation unpredictable by" the patron, won cash prizes of up to \$3,000 (Stidman) and \$10,000.00 (Walker and Grewal). (Pen. Code § 330b, subd. (d); Walker CT, pp. 12, 66, 70, 83-84; Stidman CT, pp. 30, 56, 68, 71, 82-84, 171, 173.)

⁸ Appellants would like to force law enforcement to ignore the actual operation of their devices as can be observed by anyone, and require a painstaking review of their sophisticated software to see if they have somehow managed to build outcome predictability into their systems. But such a showing is simply not required by the statute.

C. The Sweepstakes Gaming Systems Satisfy The "Insertion" Requirement Stated In Penal Code Section 330b

Appellants' attempt to exclude their Sweepstakes Gaming Systems on the basis that a physical item was not manually inserted into the Sweepstakes Gaming Systems is not credible and should be quickly rejected. Indeed, the record shows that Appellant Stidman's Sweepstakes Gaming System required the insertion of a magnetic striped card in order to make it operational. (Stidman CT, p. 30.) Therefore, the argument is a non-issue with respect to Appellant Stidman.

While the Sweepstakes Gaming Systems used by Appellants Grewal and Walker were activated by having patrons type in a PIN, this method still falls squarely within the statute which expressly includes devices that may be operated by the physical insertion of an object "... or by any other means." (Pen. Code § 330b, subd. (d), italics added.) Penal Code section 330a reinforces the point by including devices that may be operated by depositing physical items "... or in any other manner." (Pen. Code § 330a, subd. (a).) Penal Code section 330.1 adds even greater clarity and consistency in the law by including devices that may be operated by the insertion of a physical item "... or may be operated or played, mechanically, electrically, automatically, or manually." (Pen. Code § 330.1, subd. (f).) Therefore, the Court of Appeal correctly held that "[h]ere, the insertion of a PIN or the swiping of a magnetic card at the computer terminal in order to activate or access the sweepstakes games and thereby use points received upon paying money at the register (ostensibly to purchase a product) plainly came within the broad scope of the statute[s]." (Grewal, supra, 224 Cal.App.4th at pp. 760-761.) If Appellants could evade the scope of California's slot machine and gambling device prohibitions by merely using a PIN or magnetic striped

card to identify their customers and effectuate betting, then there would be no reason for them to resort to their sweepstakes ruse.

D. The Chance Element In Penal Code Section 330b Is In The Alternative To An Outcome (Winning Or Not Winning Cash Prizes) Unpredictable To The User

Penal Code section 330b explicitly states that a device may qualify as a gambling device if the prize is awarded "... by reason of any element of hazard or chance *or* of other outcome of operation unpredictable by him or her." (Pen. Code § 330b, subd. (d), italics added.) The Court of Appeal in this case properly noted that the defined terms are "clearly in the disjunctive" and that the statute "refers to *chance* 'or' *unpredictable* outcome." (*Grewal, supra*, 224 Cal.App.4th at p. 541, italics in original.)

Contrary to Appellants' contention, the Court of Appeal was not acting in a cavalier manner when they settled on this interpretation. In fact, the Court of Appeal appropriately acted in accordance with the statute's plain reading and traditional rules of statutory construction. (See, e.g., *People v. Beaver* (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 107, 117.) Further, the Court of Appeal was not the first appellate court to place significance on Penal Code section 330b's use of the disjunctive "or." The Appellate Court in *Score Family Fun Center* made the same observation:

The . . . premise that to be an illegal slot machine, the results of playing the game must occur both "by reason of any element of hazard or chance" and be unpredictable to the user is not supported by the language of the statute. The statute provides a machine is a slot machine if "by reason of any element of hazard or chance or of other outcome of such operation unpredictable by him, the user may receive or become entitled to receive any piece of money, credit, allowance or thing of value or additional chance or right to use such slot machine" (Pen. Code § 330b, subd. [(d)].) (Score Family Fun Center, supra, 225 Cal.App.3d at p. 1221, fn. omitted, italics in original.)

This Court, too, has reached this same self-evident conclusion in statutory construction stating: "use of the word 'or' in a statute indicates an intention to use it disjunctively so as to designate alternative or separate categories. [Citations.]" (White v. County of Sacramento (1982) 31 Cal.3d 676, 690.) With respect to the precise construction that Appellants argue for here, that the use of "or" in a statute should be construed as "and," this Court stated: "the language of [the statute] does not reasonably permit us to interpret the first 'or' . . . as meaning 'and.' Such a construction can only be reached by rewriting the statute's language." (People v. Garcia (1999) 21 Cal.4th 1, 11, italics in original.) This same disjunctive use of the term "or" is mandated under Penal Code section 330b, subdivision (d).

E. The Sweepstakes Gaming Systems Operated In A Manner That Was Unpredictable To The Users

It is beyond dispute that Appellants' Sweepstakes Gaming Systems operated in a manner that was unpredictable to the user. Appellants have openly conceded that the patrons had no control over the outcome (Stidman CT, pp. 56, 68, 71-72; Walker CT, pp. 45-46, 83); that no actions of skill or technique could impact the results (Stidman CT, pp. 71-72; Walker CT, pp. 66, 70); and that nobody knew of the results until a particular entry had been drawn and then revealed (Stidman CT, p.56; Walker CT, pp. 45-46, 66, 68). Therefore, Appellants have conceded that their Sweepstakes Gaming Systems operated in a manner that was "unpredictable" to the user. No further showing is required to establish the requisite element under Penal Code section 330b, subdivision (d), when the statute is properly read in the disjunctive.

F. The Sweepstakes Gaming Systems Operated By Reason Of Hazard Or Chance

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